NO. 69036-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

APR 12 2013

APR 12 2013

King County Prosecutor

Appellate Unit

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

WAYNE DUBOIS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Susan Craighead, Judge The Honorable Teresa Doyle, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JARED B. STEED Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred in denying appellant's motion to sever the charges.
- Appellant was denied effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to renew the motion to sever.

Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error

Appellant was tried jointly on one count each of first degree assault, unlawful possession of a firearm, and possession of cocaine. The assault and firearm charges stemmed from a single incident in November 2011. The cocaine possession charge arose from a separate incident in June 2011. Before trial, defense counsel moved to sever the cocaine possession charge, contending it was not relevant to the other two charges. The trial court denied the motion. Counsel did not renew the motion to sever. Where the possession charge allowed the jury to unfairly cumulate the evidence against appellant and improperly inferred a criminal disposition, was defense counsel ineffective for failing to renew the motion to sever?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Trial Testimony</u>

In June 2011, appellant Wayne DuBois was talking with a friend in the back stairwell of a bar. 7RP¹ 36, 39, 76, 79, 97, 114-16, 127. DuBois and his friend went inside after seeing sheriff deputies walk toward the bar. 7RP 45, 79, 97-98, 116. The officers followed DuBois through an adjoining bar but did not see him inside. 7RP 46-47, 71, 81, 129. Once outside, Officer John McSwain saw DuBois and several other people enter a dark green Crown Victoria car and quickly drive away. 7RP 117-18, 130-31.

About two hours later, the officers saw the same car stopped on a highway shoulder. 7RP 49-50, 118-19. DuBois got out of the driver's seat door. 7RP 51, 63-64, 83, 120. Three other men also got out of the car. 7RP 103. DuBois was uncooperative when questioned by officers, and told them to "stay away from my fucking car." 7RP 52, 84, 121-22. Officers looked through the car windshield and saw a baggie near the driver side door handle. 7RP 53, 67, 85-89, 105, 125, 135-36. Officers

¹ This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP – February 22, 2012; 2RP – March 7, 2012; 3RP – May 16, 2012; 4RP – May 17, 2012; 5RP – May 21, 2012; 6RP – May 22, 2012; 7RP – May 23, 2012; 8RP – May 24, 2012; 9RP – May 29, 2012; 10RP – July 13, 2012.

searched DuBois and seized identification and Ford symbol car keys. 7RP 92, 122, 124.

Officers also seized the car intending to search it. 7RP 151, 157-58. Two baggies found inside a driver door handle compartment tested positive for cocaine. 7RP 175-76, 208, 213. Checks signed by DuBois and mail addressed to him were found inside the trunk and glove compartment of the car. 7RP 183-87, 189-90. The car was not registered to DuBois. 6RP 128-29; 7RP 195.

Almost five months later, Alvin Hillis was shot. 6RP 23. Hillis told police DuBois was the shooter. 6RP 23-24, 71; 9RP 11-13.

Based on this evidence, DuBois was charged with one count each of first degree assault, second degree unlawful possession of a firearm, and possession of cocaine. CP 8-9, 16-17; 1RP 2, 7-8.

At trial, Hillis explained he dated DuBois' girlfriend's mother. 6RP 32-33. A week before the shooting Hillis found cocaine on the floor of his girlfriend's house. Hillis took the drugs believing they were abandoned. 6RP 34-35, 59-60.

The day of the shooting, Hillis walked to a local min-market. While walking, a dark colored Crown Victoria drove up and parked near Hillis. 6RP 29-31, 62. DuBois got out of the driver's seat and approached Hillis. DuBois told Hillis to return what he had taken from him. He then

told Hillis to leave before he returned. 6RP 36-39. DuBois got into the passenger seat of the car and drove off. 6RP 38-39.

Hillis continued walking. A short time later the car returned. DuBois got out of the passenger seat, walked toward Hillis, and told him to give him money. Hillis then heard five or six shots but did not see a gun. 6RP 40-44. He was hit once in the lower right abdomen. 6RP 45.

Erick Martinez heard five or six gunshots from inside his apartment. 6RP 90, 97. After the gunshots ended, he looked outside and saw someone get into the passenger side of a dark colored Crown Victoria car. 6RP 90-97. Martinez did not see a gun or the shooter. 6RP 96-98.

EuRhonda Riggins heard three or four gunshots while walking. 9RP 31, 35. She saw an African-American man with dreadlocks. 9RP 35-36, 39. The man's arm was extended outward. 9RP 35, 37. The person being shot did not fall down but appeared to move around to avoid the shots. 9RP 34. Riggins saw a green car in the street but did not see anyone enter or exit the vehicle. 9RP 36-37.

After the shooting, Hillis' cousin drove him to the hospital. 6RP 46, 65; 9RP 9-10, 23. A single bullet passed through Hillis' small intestine and fractured part of his pelvic bone. 8RP 12, 19-20, 49. Surgeons removed the bullet from Hillis' abdominal cavity and one and

half feet of his small intestines. 8RP 15-16, 18, 25, 29-30. Hillis suffered no long term complications from the injury. 8RP 23-24.

Police spoke with Hillis at the hospital. 6RP 70, 126. He said DuBois was the shooter and identified him in a photo montage. 6RP 48, 54-57, 66, 71, 77, 100-07.

DuBois was arrested nine days after the shooting. 6RP 109, 127-28. DuBois told police he and Hillis had an argument about money. He denied shooting Hillis. DuBois said the Crown Victoria car belonged to his girlfriend. Supp. CP ____ (sub no. 67, Transcript of Wayne Richard DuBois Interview, dated 5/6/12, at 14-18, 24-25, 28, 35-37, 45, 57); 6RP 109, 127. DuBois did not know where the car was and police were not able to locate it. Supp. CP ____ (sub no. 67, Transcript of Wayne Richard DuBois Interview, dated 5/6/12, at 17); 6RP 129.

After hearing the above, a King County jury found DuBois guilty as charged. CP 51-53. The jury also found DuBois was armed with a firearm during the assault. CP 54. The trial court sentenced DuBois to standard range concurrent prison sentences of 174 months for the assault and 29 months each for the firearm and cocaine possessions. The court also imposed a consecutive 60-month firearm enhancement. CP 58-66; 10RP 23-24, 27. DuBois timely appeals. CP 68.

Motion to Sever

Before trial DuBois' attorney moved to sever the cocaine possession charge from the assault and firearm charges. 1RP 4-5; 2RP 2-13; Supp. CP ___ (sub no. 34, Motion & Certification for Severance of Offenses, dated 2/29/12). Defense counsel argued the cocaine evidence was not relevant to any fact at issue in the assault and firearm charges. Supp. CP ___ (sub no. 34, Motion & Certification for Severance of Offenses, dated 2/29/12, at 4).

The State maintained joinder of the crimes was appropriate because of "factual crossover between the counts," and the "minimal" risk of prejudice to DuBois. Supp. CP ___ (sub no. 39, State's Response to Motion to Sever, dated 3/6/12, at 3-5). The State noted it was "critical to both cases [cocaine possession and assault] that the State prove that the defendant is connected to, and may have possessed and owned at various times, the Crown Victoria." 1RP 4; Supp. CP ___ (sub no. 39, State's Response to Motion to Sever, dated 3/6/12, at 3-4). The prosecutor argued DuBois' use of a Crown Victoria could serve as ER 404(b) evidence if the cocaine and assault charges were severed. Supp. CP ___ (sub no. 39, State's Response to Motion to Sever, dated 3/6/12, at 3-4).

In arguing the motion to sever, defense counsel noted the probative value of the cocaine possession to establish DuBois' identity through the

car was "extremely low" because DuBois admitted to driving a dark-green Crown Victoria on the day of the shooting. 2RP 4. Counsel pointed out that long-term possession of the car had little, if any, probative value as to who was driving it. 2RP 12-13. In contrast, counsel noted DuBois would be prejudiced by the cumulative effect of having to defend two separate and distinct crimes. 2RP 4, 6-8, 12.

The prosecutor responded that use of the car in both incidents demonstrated DuBois' long-term use and therefore made it unlikely he would have lent it to someone else before the shooting. 2RP 8-10. The prosecutor acknowledged however, that "there's no way for the State to argue that it's not at least somewhat prejudicial..." that drugs were allegedly involved in both unrelated incidents. 2RP 11.

The trial court denied the motion to sever, reasoning "the facts supporting the VUCSA charge tie the defendant to the vehicle which makes it more likely the defendant was in the vehicle at the time of the shooting." CP 10. DuBois' attorney did not renew the motion to sever during trial.

C. ARGUMENT

DUBOIS WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BECAUSE COUNSEL FAILED TO RENEW THE MOTION TO SEVER COUNTS DURING TRIAL.

DuBois' trial counsel was ineffective for failing to renew the severance motion during trial. A renewed severance motion would likely have been granted, and there is a reasonable probability that the outcomes of trials on severed assault and possession charges would have been different. See State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 884, 204 P.3d 916 (2009) (Where counsel's failure to litigate a motion to sever is the basis of defendant's claim, prejudice is demonstrated by evidence the motion should have been granted and but for counsel's deficient performance the outcome of the proceeding would have been different).

The federal and Washington constitutions guarantee the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend 6; Const. art. 1 § 22. A defendant is denied the right and is entitled to reversal of his convictions when his attorney's conduct (1) falls below a minimum objective standard of reasonable attorney conduct, and (2) there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would be different but for the attorney's conduct. State v. Doogan, 82 Wn. App. 185, 188-89, 917 P.2d 155 (1996) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). The defendant "need not show that

counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of the case." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the case. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.

CrR 4.4 governs severance of counts in a criminal trial. Counts that are properly joined may be severed "to promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense." CrR 4.4(b). A defendant's motion to sever "must be made before trial, except that a motion for severance may be made before or at the close of all the evidence if the interests of justice require." CrR 4.4(a)(1). A pretrial severance motion denied by the court may be renewed up until the close of all the evidence. CrR 4.4(a)(2). Failing to renew an unsuccessful severance motion constitutes a waiver. State v. Henderson, 48 Wn. App. 543, 545, 551, 740 P.2d 329, rev. denied, 109 Wn.2d 1008 (1987).

Joinder is "inherently prejudicial." <u>State v. Ramirez</u>, 46 Wn. App. 223, 226, 730 P.2d 98 (1986). A defendant may be prejudiced by having to present separate defenses, the jury may use evidence of one or more of the charged crimes to infer a criminal disposition, or the jury may cumulate evidence of the charges and find guilt when, if considered separately, it would not. <u>State v. Harris</u>, 36 Wn. App. 746, 750, 677 P.2d 202 (1984). A more subtle prejudicial effect may be present in a "latent

feeling of hostility engendered by the charging of several crimes as distinct from only one." <u>Harris</u>, 36 Wn. App. at 750 (quoting <u>Drew v. United States</u>, 331 F.2d 85, 88 (D.C. Cir. 1964)).

In determining whether to sever charges, the trial court considers (1) the strength of the State's evidence on each count; (2) the clarity of defenses as to each count; (3) whether the court instructs the jury to consider each count separately; and (4) the admissibility of evidence of the other charges even if not joined for trial. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 884-85.

In this case, DuBois was prejudiced by the joinder of the cocaine possession and assault charges. In light of the evidence presented at trial, and after proper application of the four severance factors, the trial court would likely have granted a renewed motion for severance.

First, the strength of the State's evidence as to possession of cocaine was less than that as to assault and firearm possession. Eyewitness testimony, medical records and testimony, photographs, a recovered bullet, and Hillis' testimony and statements to medical and emergency providers supported the assault and firearm charges.

No such corroborating evidence existed to support the cocaine charge. No one saw DuBois in actual possession of the cocaine and no fingerprints were recovered from the bindle. The car in which the cocaine was found was not registered to DuBois and three other men were seen

exiting the car at the same time as DuBois. Although police found car keys when searching DuBois, no evidence shows they operated that particular car, and no officers saw DuBois driving the car.

Instead, the trial court's denial of the motion to sever allowed the jury to cumulate the evidence and infer that because the assault incident allegedly stemmed from a dispute over drugs, DuBois must also be guilty of the unrelated drug possession five months prior. If considered separately, the jury would likely have found the cocaine evidence weak and may have acquitted DuBois.

The second factor, clarity of defenses, also favored severance. General denial was a defense to all the counts. However, DuBois' defense to the first degree assault also provided that there was insufficient evidence of his intent to inflict great bodily harm. 9RP 71-72; CP 32-33, 39 (instructions 11, 12, and 18).

The third factor also supports severance despite the instruction to "decide each count separately." CP 46 (instruction 25). The jury's ability to compartmentalize the evidence of various counts is an important consideration in assessing the prejudice caused by joinder. State v. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d 713, 721, 790 P.2d 154 (1990). In Bythrow, the court found joinder was appropriate, noting the trial lasted only two days, the evidence of the two counts was generally presented in sequence,

different witnesses testified as to the different counts, the jury was properly instructed to consider the counts separately, and the issues and defenses were distinct. <u>Bythrow</u>, 114 Wn. App. at 723. On that basis, the court concluded the jury was not likely influenced by evidence of multiple crimes, and the failure to sever was not error. <u>Bythrow</u>, 114 Wn. App. at 723.

Unlike in <u>Bythrow</u>, here the jury was unlikely to properly compartmentalize the evidence of the different counts. First, DuBois' trial spanned one week, with four days of testimony. Moreover, testimony on the different counts was not presented in sequence, with testimony of various witnesses jumping from month to month and incident to incident.

Although the jury was instructed to decide each count separately, there was no limiting instruction directing the jury that evidence of one crime could not be used to decide guilt for a second crime. See Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 885-86 (recognizing the difference between an instruction to decide each count separately and one limiting the jury's use of evidence of one crime to decide guilt for a second crime). Given the length of trial, non-sequential testimony, and repeated references to drug incidents, both charged and uncharged, the jury was likely to cumulate the evidence and simply find DuBois guilty on all counts.

The fourth factor also favored severance. Evidence of the cocaine and dark-colored car would not have been admissible in a trial for the assault and firearm charges had the incidents been tried separately. In denying the motion to sever, the court opined the possession charge tied DuBois to the car, thereby making it more likely he was in the car at the time of the shooting. CP 10. But evidence is relevant to identity only if the method employed in the commission of both crimes is so unique that mere proof that the accused committed one of them creates high probability that he also committed the act charged. State v. Watkins, 53 Wn. App. 264, 271, 766 P.2d 484 (1989). "When identity is at issue, the degree of similarity [between the prior bad act and the current offense] must be at the highest level and the commonalities must be unique because the crimes must have been committed in a manner to serve as an identifiable signature." State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 21, 74 P.3d 119 (2003).

Here, the only similarity between the incidents is that all allegedly involved drugs and a dark-colored Crown Victoria. The State presented no evidence, however, that the cars involved in each incident were in fact the same. No license plates, vehicle identification numbers, or other identifying marks proved the cars were the same. The car associated with the cocaine charge was not registered to DuBois and the police never

found the Crown Victoria allegedly associated with the assault. 6RP 128-29; 7RP 195. Thus, the car could not have been used for the purpose of proving DuBois' identity.

The only purpose for which the evidence could have been used was to show DuBois was predisposed to commit drug crimes and therefore must have been involved in both the cocaine possession and the assault of Hillis, which stemmed from a dispute over unrelated drugs. This is the "forbidden inference" ER 404(b)² is designed to prevent. State v. Wade, 98 Wn. App. 328, 336, 989 P.2d 576 (1999). The trial court, therefore, would likely have sustained counsel's objections to the admissibility of the cocaine charge in a separate assault trial.

Even assuming evidence of the dark-colored car would be admissible in a trial for the assault and firearm charges, evidence of the cocaine was not relevant to any fact at issue in either charge. Thus, the risk of unfair prejudice could have been reduced by sanitizing evidence of the car to remove any mention of the cocaine found inside.

² The rule provides: "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident."

For these reasons, a renewed motion should have resulted in a severance of the cocaine charge. Counsel's failure to renew the motion to sever fell below the standard expected for effective representation. As evidenced by his original motion to sever, trial counsel was well aware of the significant prejudice inherent in the joinder of the charges in one trial.

Nothing happened during trial to mitigate the prejudice counsel anticipated when bringing the motion in the first place. Thus, there was no reasonable trial strategy that would lead counsel to abandon the motion to sever offenses. Counsel simply neglected to renew the motion as required by the rules. State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009) (counsel has a duty to know the relevant law); State v. Carter, 56 Wn. App. 217, 224, 783 P.2d 589 (1989) (counsel is presumed to know court rules). Such neglect indicates deficient performance. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 887.

This failure to renew the motion to sever was prejudicial. For the reasons discussed above, there is great danger the jury used evidence of the assault and firearm charges to infer a criminal disposition. Likewise, the jury may have cumulated the evidence of the crimes to find guilt. At the very least, trying the unrelated cocaine and assault charges together necessarily engendered a latent feeling of hostility toward DuBois. DuBois' constitutional right to effective assistance counsel was violated.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons discussed above, DuBois' convictions should be reversed and the case remanded.

DATED this 12th day of April, 2013

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN, BROMAN KOCH

JARED B. STEED WSBA No. 40635 Office ID No. 91051 Attorneys for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON)
Respondent,)
V .) COA NO. 69036-1
WAYNE DUBOIS,)
Appellant.)