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

C. ARGUMENT 

1. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO RENEW 
THE MOTION TO SEVER IS NOT INEFFECTIVE 
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

Dubois contends that he was denied effective assistance of 

counsel when his attorney failed to renew the motion to sever. 

Counsel's decision not to renew the motion to sever does not 

constitute deficient performance, when considering all the 

circumstances. Even if counsel's conduct does qualify as deficient 

performance, there is no reasonable probability that the outcome of 

the proceeding would be different but for that performance because 

joinder was appropriate in this case. 
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The United States and Washington Constitutions guarantee 

the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; 

Const. art. I, § 22. In order to establish that counsel was 

ineffective, a defendant must show that counsel's conduct was 

deficient and that the deficient performance resulted in prejudice. 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687,104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 

L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). 

To show deficient representation, the defendant must show 

that the representation fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances. 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. Judicial scrutiny of counsel's 

performance must be highly deferential, and a fair assessment of 

attorney performance requires that every effort be made to 

eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the 

circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the 

conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. kL at 689. The 

defendant must overcome a strong presumption that counsel's 

conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional 

assistance. kL 

Prejudice is established if the defendant shows that there is 

a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional 
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errors, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. A reasonable probability is a 

probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Id. 

A court need not determine whether counsel's performance was 

deficient before examining prejudice. kL. at 697. 

erR 4.3(a) permits joining two or more offenses of the same 

or similar character, even if the offenses are not part of a single 

scheme or plan, or if the offenses are "based on the same conduct 

or on a series of acts connected together or constituting parts of a 

single scheme or plan." Washington courts construe erR 4.3(a) 

expansively so as to "promote the public policy of conserving 

judicial and prosecution resources ." State v. Bryant, 89 Wn. App. 

857, 864, 950 P.2d 1004 (1998). 

Under erR 4.4(b), the trial court shall sever the charges 

against the defendant if "the court determines that severance will 

promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of 

each offense." Properly joined offenses may be severed if the 

defendant is prejudiced in presenting separate defenses, or if a 

single trial would encourage the jury to cumulate evidence or infer a 

criminal disposition. State v. Watkins, 53 Wn. App. 264, 268, 766 

P.2d 484 (1989). 
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The defendant must make a motion to sever offenses before 

trial, unless the interests of justice require otherwise. CrR 4.4(a)(1). 

If the motion is denied, then the defendant must renew it "before or 

at the close of all the evidence," or the issue may not be raised on 

appeal. CrR 4.4(a)(2); Bryant, 89 Wn. App. at 864. "Before or at 

the close of all the evidence" means before the close of trial. State 

v. Henderson, 48 Wn. App. 543, 551, 740 P.2d 329 (1987); State v. 

Ben-Neth, 34 Wn. App. 600, 606, 663 P.2d 156 (1983). 

Dubois chose not to challenge Judge Doyle's denial of his 

motion to sever by failing to renew the motion before the close of 

evidence, as required by the rule and case law. However, based 

on the present record, Dubois cannot show that his counsel 's 

performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. A complete review of the court record 

shows that Dubois' defense counsel provided sound 

representation, understood the relevant law, and advocated 

zealously on behalf of his client prior to and throughout the trial. 

7RP 8-9; 9RP 67-78. 

For example, when Dubois made a verbal motion to 

substitute counsel on the fifth day of trial, the trial court told Dubois 

that, despite how very critical she is of defense attorneys as a 
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judge, having previously been a defense attorney, she "could not 

do better than what Mr. McGuire is doing." 7RP 8. In denying 

Dubois' motion for a new defense counsel, the court told Dubois: 

"[Mr. McGuire] is one of our strongest defense 
attorneys. Sometimes you're in a situation where 
there isn't a whole lot that Defense Counsel has to 
work with, and so you have to realize that they can't 
make stuff up. I mean, if there isn't evidence for them 
to work with, then they can't make it up, okay? ..... 
Mr. McGuire is doing a good job." 

7RP 8-9 . 

Dubois' counsel decided not to raise a severance motion 

prior to the end of trial, not because he was ineffective and didn't 

know the court rule, but rather because he did know the court rule. 

CrR 4.4. Defense understood, as he explained during his oral 

argument on the severance motion, that, "judicial economy is really 

only achieved if the evidence in the VUCSA case is considered 

admissible in the assault case." 2RP 6. 

What changed between the time defense counsel made his 

initial motion to sever and the end of trial is that the evidence 

showing Dubois' possession of the Crown Victoria was deemed 

cross-admissible and was shown to be a key piece of evidence in 

both the State's assault and drug case. CP 10; 9RP 51. Due to the 

trial court's ruling that the evidence was cross-admissible, counsel 
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had no reason to believe a different outcome would result if the 

motion was renewed. A defense counsel is not required to bring 

frivolous motions; he is not required to renew a motion to sever 

prior to the end of trial at the expense of losing credibility with the 

court or his own professional reputation. 3 

Dubois' counsel's statements that a jury would not be likely 

to confuse the issues between the two distinct, unrelated cases 

suggest that his failure to renew the motion to sever or move for a 

mistrial after the initial pretrial severance motion was because the 

joinder did not appear critically prejudicial to Dubois in the context 

of trial. 2RP 5; 9RP 7; State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613,661,790 

P.2d 610 (1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1046 (1991) ("The absence 

of a motion for mistrial at the time of the argument strongly 

suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not 

appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of trial."). 

Defense counsel properly moved to sever counts before trial, but 

reasonably chose not to renew the motion because the evidence 

was cross-admissible and nothing else had changed. Refraining 

3 "No party shall remake the same motion to a different judge without showing by 
affidavit what motion was previously made, when and to which judge, what the 
order or decision was, and any new facts or other circumstances that would 
justify seeking a different ruling from another judge ." LCR 7(b)(7) . 
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from bringing a frivolous severance motion prior to the end of trial 

does not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness. 

Dubois failed to demonstrate the required prejudice to 

warrant severance. The defendant bears the burden of showing 

that trial on two or more counts "would be so manifestly prejudicial 

as to outweigh the concern for judicial economy." State v. By throw, 

114 Wn.2d 713,718,790 P.2d 154 (1990) (emphasis added). 

When weighing the potential for prejudice, the trial court must 

consider "(1) the strength of the State's evidence on each count; 

(2) the clarity of defenses as to each count; (3) the court's 

instructions to the jury to consider each count separately; and 

(4) the admissibility of evidence of the other charges even if not 

joined for triaL" State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 63, 882 P.2d 747 

(1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1129 (1995). 

None of these factors is dispositive. Watkins, 53 Wn. App. 

at 272-73 n.3; By throw, 114 Wn.2d at 720-22; State v. Markle, 118 

Wn.2d 424, 823 P.2d 1101 (1992). Any potential prejudice to the 

defendant must be weighed against concerns of judicial economy. 

By throw, 114 Wn.2d at 723 (concluding that conserving judicial 

resources and public funds are the cornerstones of judicial 
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economy and noting the significant savings resulting from having 

one courtroom, one judge, and one jury to empanel). 

Dubois cannot show based on this record that the trial court 

committed a "manifest abuse of discretion" by denying his motion to 

sever. See State v. Kalakosky, 121 Wn.2d 525,539,852 P.2d 

1064 (1993) Oudicial economy outweighed potential prejudice 

resulting from joining five rape counts with separate victims based 

on the strength of the State's evidence, ability to compartmentalize 

evidence, and court's instruction to consider the crimes separately). 

Examining the four factors shows that the trial court ruling 

was correct: the relative strength of the evidence was the same; the 

defenses were clear; instructions were given; and the evidence was 

cross-admissible. Any prejudice resulting from the fact that Dubois 

happened to be located at the scene of two separate and distinct 

crimes does not overcome the public interest of conserving judicial 

and prosecution resources. Bryant, 89 Wn. App. at 864. 

Dubois contends that the State's evidence as to the assault 

and firearm possession charge was stronger than that as to the 

possession of cocaine charge, and that the denial of the motion to 

sever "allowed the jury to cumulate the evidence and infer that, 

because the assault incident allegedly stemmed from a dispute 
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over drugs, Dubois must also be guilty of the unrelated drug 

possession five months earlier." Appellant's Sr. at 11. However, 

Dubois' argument is not supported by this record. The evidence 

was strong as to both counts. 

In the firearm/assault case, Hillis knew Dubois, had felt 

threatened by him shortly before the time of the shooting, and saw 

Dubois shoot him at very close range. 6RP 32-33, 35-37,43,46. 

Hillis provided an unambiguous identification of Dubois, both while 

at the hospital after the shooting and later at trial. 6RP 23-24, 56. 

Additionally, two independent civilian eyewitnesses 

described the vehicle and suspect involved in the shooting. Eric 

Martinez-Mota looked out his window upon hearing gunshots and 

saw a male figure run towards and get in on the passenger side of 

a Ford Crown Victoria. 6RP 90-93,97. The vehicle appeared to try 

to speed off after the gunshots, but had to sit for several seconds 

while a string of cars came through the intersection. 6RP 96. 

Martinez-Mota noticed during this time that the Crown Victoria was 

dark in color and had a spotlight next to one of its side mirrors like 

an old police vehicle. 6RP 91-92. 

EuRhonda Riggins heard shots fired behind her and turned 

to see a man extending out his arm shooting with what she 
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believed to be a firearm at another man who was dodging bullets 

and then running from his assailant. 9RP 33-35. Riggins believed 

the shooter was African American, that his skin tone looked "maybe 

more of a caramel" color, and that he had dreads with frosted tips. 

9RP 35-36, 39. Riggins also saw a green car in the street when the 

shooting was happening. 9RP 36. 

When interviewed by police, Dubois acknowledged that he 

had first been driving and then later been a passenger in a dark 

green Ford Crown Victoria in close proximity to the location of the 

shooting when it occurred . CP 96-97, 100-01. Dubois also verified 

Hillis' account of being verbally confronted by Dubois shortly before 

the shooting occurred. CP 96-97. Dubois conceded during the 

interview that he was "way recognizable" due to being an African 

American with light-skinned complexion with highlighted 

dreadlocks. CP 103-04,110,116. 

In addition to this evidence, the State also produced 

evidence to support the gun charge, including medical testimony 

and records, a firearm expert's testimony and report, photographs, 

and a bullet recovered from Hillis' body. 6RP 25-26, 132, 145-46; 

8RP 6, 15-16,25-26. 
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Dubois' argument that the drug case was weak because no 

one saw him in actual possession of the cocaine is meritless; the 

drug charge was based on strong evidence of constructive 

possession. Appellant's Br. at 11 ; CP 44 Uury instruction #23); 9RP 

62-64. Police observed the defendant getting out of the driver's 

seat of the green Crown Victoria, lawfully stopped him, and a 

substance suspected to be cocaine was seen in the door handle 

area of the driver's side door. 5RP 30; 7RP 51,53,87, 125. Later 

testing of the substance confirmed that the substance did in fact 

contain cocaine. 7RP 213. 

Several factors tied the cocaine to Dubois, including that 

Dubois exited the car from the driver's seat, the drugs were located 

in the driver'S door handle, and Dubois asserted that the Crown 

Victoria was his car. 7RP 51,87, 121-22. Dubois' belligerent and 

agitated demeanor as the deputy walked over to the car, while the 

other three occupants who had gotten out of the vehicle remained 

cooperative, supports a strong inference that Dubois knew there 

was cocaine in the car. 7RP 52,83-84, 121. Additionally, car keys 

matching the make and manufacturer of the Crown Victoria were 
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found in Dubois' pocket. 7RP 123-24. Dubois' fingerprints4 and 

several types of documents containing his name were also found 

inside the vehicle. 7RP 197-98; 8RP 41. This evidence 

conclusively established that both the Crown Victoria and the 

cocaine found within it belonged to Dubois. Because the firearm 

assault and drug offenses are clear and distinct, with substantial 

proof for each charge, the possibility of prejudice resulting from 

joinder is minimal. 

Dubois' claim of general denial as his defenses for the drug 

charge and the firearm assault charge supports the court's denial of 

Dubois' motion to sever. Dubois argued, respectively, that there 

wasn't sufficient evidence to prove the drugs were his, nor to prove 

he shot Hillis or intended to inflict great bodily harm. His defenses 

to each of the counts are separate and there is nothing inconsistent 

about them. Nothing in the record suggests that, by trying the drug 

and assault cases together, Dubois' defenses were muddled or 

contradicted each other. 

The court's proper instruction to the jury also supports the 

court's denial of Dubois' motion to sever. At the severance motion, 

4 AFIS matched prints from the rearview mirror of the Crown Victoria, the interior 
of the rear, the exterior driver's side front window, and the driver's side rear 
window to an individualized set of prints for Dubois. 7RP 197-98. 
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Judge Doyle noted that, "there's still the presumption in the case 

law that jurors follow the jury instructions." 2RP 5. The trial court 

instructed the jury to consider each count separately.5 CP 46. The 

court also gave the jury separate to-convict instructions and verdict 

forms for each count establishing the different elements to be found 

and reaffirming the requirement to consider the counts separately. 

CP 46,112-13,116-17,121,126,133-36. 

Because the jurors were instructed properly and the State 

had to prove separate and distinct elements under each count 

(with the exception of the crime occurring in Washington), there 

was limited threat of the jury cumulating the evidence or inferring a 

general criminal intent. CP 31,41,45,46. Further, Dubois' 

counsel reminded the jury in closing arguments about their 

obligation to consider the charges separately by stating, "Count III 

is completely unrelated to Counts I and II. It doesn't have anything 

to do with what happened in November of last year." 9RP 76. 

The cross-admissibility of the evidence also supports the 

court's decision to leave the charges joined for trial. If the gun 

assault incident and the drug possession incident were tried 

5 "A separate crime is charged in each count. You must decide each count 
separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on any 
other count." WPIC 3.01. 
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separately, evidence of the other event would be admitted as 

ER 404(b) evidence in the trial on the other charge. Holding two 

separate trials with many overlapping witnesses would not have 

promoted judicial economy. 

Dubois possessed and claimed ownership over the 

distinctive Crown Victoria during the drug incident; this evidence 

was admissible to help prove identity on the firearm assault 

incident. ER 402; ER 404(b). The evidence showing Dubois 

owned the Crown Victoria, which supported the constructive 

possession argument in the drug case, also supported the 

reasonable inference that Dubois was involved in the assault since 

his car was observed at the scene of the shooting. This evidence 

was especially probative in light of defense counsel's argument 

during closing that the shooter could have been someone other 

than Dubois. 9RP 69. Similarly, witnesses in the assault case with 

knowledge about the association between Dubois and this Ford 

Crown Victoria would have been admissible in a separate trial on 

the drug charge to support the State's constructive possession 

argument. 1 RP 4. 

Even if the evidence was not cross-admissible, the lack of 

cross-admissibility does not automatically result in severance. 
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By throw, 114 Wn.2d at 720-22; Markle, 118 Wn.2d at 439. Dubois 

still must show that a joint trial was "so manifestly prejudicial as to

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